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TABLE 1: After Sellar, ‘Earliest Campbells’, p.117



	MS1467
	Kilbride MS
	MacFirbis



	?IUBUR
	AMBROSIUS
	IOBHAR



	|
	|
	|



	ARTHUR
	ARTHUR
	ARTHUR



	|
	|
	|



	MEIRBI
	SMERBI
	SMEIRBE



	|
	|
	|



	?EIRENAIA
	FERADOIG
	FERADOIGH



	|
	|
	|



	DUIBNE
	DUIBNE
	DUIBNE



	|
	|
	|



	MALCOLM
	MALCOLM
	MALCOLM



	|
	|
	|



	GILLESPIC
	DUNCAN
	DUNCAN



	|
	|
	|



	DUNCAN
	GILLESPIC
	EOGHAN



	|
	|
	|



	DUGALD
	DUGALD
	DUGALD



	|
	|
	|



	GILLESPIC
	GILLESPIC
	GILLESPIC



	|
	|
	|



	COLIN
	COLIN
	COLIN




The Ten Generations above Colin Mór

TABLE 2: The Loch Awe and Ardscotnish Campbells: A conjectural genealogy
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* The papal dispensations obtained in 1366 for Colin and Mary’s marriage give an account of the connection between the couple (expressed in terms of degrees of affinity) that is incompatible with the relationship suggested in the above genealogy or, indeed, the alternative genealogy of the Loch Awe and Ardscotnish families provided in Table 2a.

TABLE 2A: The Loch Awe and Ardscotnish Campbells: as per A.B.W. McEwen
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*See note in Table 2

TABLE 3: Principal Cadets of the Loch Awe Campbells
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TABLE 4: East and West, significant Campbell marriages in the fifteenth century
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* It is uncertain whether the ’Katrin’ contracted to James Haldane of Gleneagles in 1465 is the same woman as the Catriona later married to Torquil MacLeod and/or the ’Catherine’ mentioned in seventeenth-century sources as the partner of MacLean ’of Mull’ and Donald Gorm



INTRODUCTION

The Way of the Wild Ash

In 1938 Hector McKechnie published a history of the Lamonts of Cowal. He opened his work with a brief summary of the fortunes and qualities of the great Gaelic families of medieval Scotland. ‘A dignity unequalled attached to the proud McDonalds under the Lords of the Isles, although they split into factions later. Thereafter unrivalled success attended the sleekit Campbells, who combined claymore and parchment as never Celts before, and encroached on all their neighbours. They were copied in the north by the greedy MacKenzies, who could pass the fiery cross from sea to sea through lands they had grasped from others …’1 Naturally, MacKechnie also included the Lamonts amongst those who had fallen victim to the overweening ambitions of the Campbell lords. The author returned to his happy theme of Campbell iniquity when he suggested that the family followed ‘the way of the Wild Ash’, a vigorous fast-growing tree that overshadowed and eventually destroyed all its neighbours.2

McKechnie’s excitable prose is fairly typical of the way in which the apparently relentless growth of Campbell lordship in medieval Scotland has been explained and stigmatised in both popular and academic histories. One of the most influential academic works available for consultation by McKechnie and other nineteenth- and twentieth-century authors dealing with the history of individual Highland families was W.F. Skene’s The Highlanders of Scotland, first published in 1837. In Skene’s estimation the undoubted effectiveness of the medieval Clan Campbell was built on a ‘policy characterised by cunning and perfidy, though deep and far sighted, and which obtained its usual success in the acquisition of great temporal grandeur and power’.3 Campbell ‘cunning’, ‘policy’ and foresight, and the way in which these qualities marked the family off from its neighbours, became a standard theme of scholarly writing on the Highlands. In 1859, Cosmo Innes claimed that although the Campbells had replaced ‘the great ancient lords of Argyll, the Isles, and Lorn … theirs was a different rule from that of the pirates and rude princes, their predecessors’. Despite the power they wielded, ‘which they might easily have made independent, over the Celts of the remote and inaccessible mountains and isles, the Campbells from the beginning, attached themselves to the Scotch court’. Their success depended on ‘the personal character of the race, predominating alike in policy and force over all their neighbours’.4

The full significance of the judgements delivered by Skene and Innes is only apparent when set against the background of contemporary views of the historical development of the Scottish kingdom and the supposed attributes of the Gael. For many in the nineteenth century, the story of late medieval Scotland had been distinguished by a long struggle for supremacy between the Gael and the Saxon or Teuton and their respective languages and cultures. In this great confrontation the Scottish monarchy, at least from the reign of David I (1124–1153) onward, was explicitly identified with the interests of Lowland ‘teutonic’, English-speaking Scotland. The champions of the late medieval Gael, by contrast, were the MacDonald Lords of the Isles. Military and political clashes between the Lordship and the crown or its agents, such as the famous Battle of Harlaw (1411), tended to be seen and explained in terms of this fundamental cultural and ‘racial’ division. A rather extreme expression of this view was to be found in the, perhaps inappropriately titled, Book of Bon-Accord, published two years after Skene’s Highlanders. Talking of Harlaw, the author helpfully placed the confrontation into its historical context by describing the battle as ‘one of the conflicts in that great war between the Celtic and the Saxon races — between barbarism and civilisation — which beginning with the Pretender Donalbane, in the eleventh century, was only finally ended on the Moor of Culloden …’!5 In this historical scheme, the Campbells’ association with the ‘Scotch’ court and their disinterest in achieving ‘independent’ rule over the ‘Celts’ of the western Highlands and Islands made their position seem unnatural and ‘ungaelic’. If there was a war between Celt and Teuton, then Campbell success seemed to depend on collaboration with the enemies of the Gael. Even Skene’s emphasis on Campbell prescience and lust for ‘temporal grandeur’ may have had an unsettling resonance for a nineteenth-century readership. The ‘Celtic peoples of Britain and Ireland were thought to exhibit certain distinctive racial characteristics, such as emotional impulsiveness, a lack of interest in material acquisition, and a heightened artistic and spiritual sensibility, that could be contrasted with the more stolid virtues of the Saxon.6 Skene’s short description of the Campbells implied, intentionally or otherwise, that the family had a mindset that was in many ways ‘non-Celtic’.

The rather hostile view of Clan Campbell found in Skene as a predatory, scheming and almost quisling presence within Gaelic Scotland was thus partly shaped by the concerns of Skene’s own age, but also by his study of the literary and historical works of earlier periods. Particularly influential in this latter category were the Gaelic poets in the service of various branches of Clan Donald in the seventeenth century, such as Iain Lom, who lamented the passing of Clan Donald power and unity while savaging contemporary Campbell duplicity and cravenness. Iain Lom’s assertion that ‘The sharp stroke of short pens protects Argyll’ is a memorably pithy comment on the perceived Campbell manipulation of the legal forms and machinery of Lowland Scotland to destroy fellow Gaelic families and lords in the west during the seventeenth century.7 However, the idea that the Campbells’ historic mission was to achieve the ruin of the Clan Donald in the interests of the crown was not simply a creation of the family’s opponents. By the end of the sixteenth century, if not before, Campbell earls seem to have consciously promoted the notion that their ancestors had indeed played a critical role in the ‘daunting’ of the Isles and had acted as representatives of law, order and civilisation in the wild frontier lands of the Scottish and English realms. The historical interpretation not only justified the family’s prominence in the Scottish polity and the special privileges it enjoyed, but it also acted, in a sense, as the Campbells’ business card, outlining their reliability and their usefulness in pest control and eradication in the Highlands, Islands and, potentially, Ireland.8

The notion that the spread of Campbell power involved the steady and deliberate destruction of older and more prestigious Gaelic lordships has become a potent element in the popular and scholastic imagination. Nineteenth- and twentieth-century histories of the Highlands (such as MacKechnie’s) are littered with the supposed victims of Campbell aggression and duplicity, although the most notable and significant casualties are taken to be the MacDougalls and the MacDonalds. In the latter case, Campbell territorial and political advances have been used to track and explain the decline and then disintegration of the great Clan Donald hegemony over the Isles. In some popular histories the entire sweep of Highland history has been reduced to a long-running feud between the Campbells and Clan Donald.9 Moreover, the two families have also been taken to symbolise and represent opposed forces and long-term processes affecting the culture, language and economy of the Highlands and the Hebrides. Campbell expansion at the expense of other kindreds has not been seen as part of the natural rise and fall of west-coast lordships according to changing political and dynastic fortunes, but as an indicator of a much more sinister and inexorable assault upon the very fabric of Gaelic society. In more scholarly works a large part of the Campbells’ political and territorial success is attributed to their adoption of ‘alien’ traditions of lordship, integration into the Lowland political community, to their close relationship with the Scottish crown, and to the sheer guile exhibited by a succession of Campbell lords. Where the Campbells are said to have become in the late medieval period ‘the most feudal of Celtic kindreds, basing their expansion on feudal charters, the newly created sheriffship of Argyll, and an aggressive adoption of Lowland ways’, the MacDonalds, ‘in contrast, fostered a renewed, self-conscious pan-Celtic Gaeldom’.10 In many ways this judgement reflects the generally hostile nineteenth-century Gaelic historiographical tradition that portrayed Clan Campbell as somehow ‘ungaelic’, a conduit by which corrosive alien practices were introduced into the Gaelic west at the behest of the Lowland monarchy. In the Gaelic tradition the Campbell-MacDonald rivalry remains ‘a dialectical opposition of resistance to and collaboration with the central authorities’.11 The Campbells’ willingness to act as royal representatives in the west and their rivalry with the Clan Donald are seen as inseparable features of their history and policy. The dominance achieved by Clan Campbell in Argyll by the end of the medieval period is explained largely through the assertion that the family acted ‘as agents of the Scottish crown in destroying the overmighty Macdonalds’.12 Moreover, the results of the fall of the MacDonald lordship of the Isles and the Campbell ascendancy are often portrayed as utterly disastrous for Gaelic culture and society in a wider sense. At the political level the loss of the guiding hand of the Lord of the Isles allowed local rivalries and feuds in the Hebrides to run unchecked. ‘These were skilfully fomented by the central government and by its agent Argyll. It was indeed this use of diplomacy and stratagems rather than open violence that won the Campbells such hatred. The utter barbarity of the history of the Highlands from roughly 1475 to 1625 was largely the result of the “daunting of the Isles” and the destruction of the Macdonald lordship.’13 Aside from being more or less directly responsible for most of the violence that afflicted Highland Scotland in the century and a half after 1475, the Campbells had other charges to answer in relation to their long campaign against the Clan Donald. The disappearance of the great MacDonald lords as patrons and defenders of Gaelic culture has been a suitable subject for lamentation from the sixteenth century to the present day. In some accounts Gaelic cultural and linguistic vitality in the medieval period has become virtually synonymous with the political and territorial fortunes of the Lordship of the Isles. Indeed, the cultural role of the medieval Lords of the Isles has been emphasised to such an extent that they can appear almost as the curators of a beleaguered institute for Gaelic studies fighting compulsory closure, rather than potent, aggressive and expansionist aristocrats whose principal and immediate concern lay in securing or augmenting their lands, status and wealth. The idea of the Lordship of the Isles as an unalloyed political expression of Gaelic identity in the Middle Ages is a powerful and evocative one, especially for literary scholars and historians chiefly concerned with issues of Gaelic culture and language. The identification of the Lordship with the wider story of the Gaelic language has probably been strengthened with the much more recent withering of Gaelic as a spoken language in areas of mainland Scotland and its tenacious survival in the Hebrides, the heartland of former lordship territories. John Bannerman’s seminal and perceptive survey of the medieval Lordship of the Isles, for example, concluded: ‘It is perhaps not too fanciful to see the Lordship, a comparatively recent manifestation of a highly successful native political and social unit and only marginally indebted to foreign influences, as a contributory factor in the continuing existence of the Gaelic language and culture in Scotland today.’14

If Campbell lords have long been portrayed as calculating villains to be set against the noble but doomed leaders of Clan Donald, recent work has begun to question some of the historical assumptions underlying this picture. In penetrating studies of the Lordship of the Isles, John Bannerman made two important points in relation to Clan Campbell. First, there was, in fact, little or no real evidence for any sustained political and territorial conflict between the Clan Donald and Clan Campbell in the medieval period. Second, the ruling elite within Clan Campbell, far from abandoning or rejecting Gaelic cultural forms, remained significant patrons of the activities of the Gaelic learned orders well into the sixteenth century. In these two areas, the political and cultural, Bannerman implied a certain measure of Campbell subservience towards the Lords of the Isles, whose position at the apex of Gaelic society was unquestioned.15 The importance of the Campbells as cultural patrons within the Gaelic world has become even more obvious through the careful and illuminating scholarship of Willie Gillies and Martin MacGregor.16 What emerges is a picture of Campbell lordship in the medieval period as one of the great bastions of Gaelic learning and culture. Historical studies proceeding from a rather different angle have also served to blur the previously sharp distinction between Clan Donald and Clan Campbell in terms of the way the families functioned as lords of men and land. Billie and Jean Munro’s collection of the Acts of the Lords of the Isles and Alexander Grant’s acute analysis of the Clan Donald adoption of charter lordship have tended to suggest that the Lords of the Isles were rather more adaptable, innovative and pragmatic than their reputation as conservative guardians of tradition might suggest.17 This pragmatism extended into the area of the Lords’ relationship with the Scottish crown, which was not a tale of unremitting hostility fired by deep-rooted cultural animosity – on either side. In the course of the fifteenth century, as Clan Donald chiefs sought to secure their hold on the earldom of Ross, they became more rather than less involved with Scottish court politics, entered more marriage and political alliances with Scottish magnates, and held and discharged important crown offices. The great and fatal clashes of the fifteenth century arose from a background of growing engagement rather than disengagement. Increasingly, then, the Clan Campbell and Clan Donald do not appear as implacable adversaries, but as travellers along parallel paths, faced by similar difficulties, choices and opportunities, buffeted by the same historical and political pressures.

Some of the themes and debates outlined above are briefly addressed in the course of the present study. However, the bulk of what follows is a political narrative dealing with the fortunes of the main line of the Campbell family from its emergence in historical record in the mid-thirteenth century to the spectacular demise of the second Campbell earl of Argyll at the battle of Flodden in 1513. There is no conscious attempt to defend Campbell lords against charges of opportunism, ruthlessness and aggression, not least because these qualities were amongst the essential prerequisites for the successful exercise and extension of aristocratic power in late medieval Scotland. Those hardy souls who follow the story through and achieve a merciful release alongside Earl Archibald on Branxton Hill may well feel that history has been rather unkind to the medieval lords of Loch Awe. On the whole, the damaging depiction of Campbell regional power as resting entirely on a policy of co-operation with the Scottish crown appears rather simplistic and misleading. At a more fundamental level, the tale of Clan Campbell should also perhaps raise questions about the historical framework in which late medieval Gaelic Scotland is studied. For those who continue to regard the period as one dominated by a struggle between an undifferentiated Gaelic community and an ‘anglicising’ Scottish monarchy, the Campbells will still appear as an anomaly — a family out of step with the traditions and attitudes of the region they governed. From the viewpoint of a political historian largely concerned with the development of the Scottish kingdom, however, the achievement of Clan Campbell is indicative of a wider success story, namely the integration of lords from Gaelic areas and backgrounds into a political community focused on the Scottish crown. At some level this process may have relied on, or encouraged, a measure of cultural accommodation, but as the Campbell lords themselves proved, political loyalty to the Scottish crown was not, in itself, incompatible with the maintenance of claims to a leading role in Gaelic society.
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The Sons of Arthur? 
Clan Campbell in the Thirteenth Century

Late in the summer of 1306 Robert Bruce, King of Scotland, and a weary band of his supporters made their way through the earldom of Lennox to the shore of Loch Long.1 King Robert and his men had travelled a long, bitter and bloody road to reach the salt sea; behind them lay crushing military defeats at Methven and Dail Righ, and a doleful litany of kinsfolk and allies killed, captured or executed.2 Indeed, the clamour of remorseless pursuit was still with Robert and his remaining partisans as they waited on the shore of the ‘Loch of Ships’. According to John Barbour, writing his account of Robert’s kingship in the 1370s, the beleaguered monarch hoped for news of a fleet under the command of Sir Neil Campbell. Neil had left Bruce’s company a few days earlier in order to muster a galley force that could carry the king and his men to the relative safety of Kintyre.3 As King Robert’s followers gazed out to catch a glimpse of sail in the Firth of Clyde, they may well have pondered the nature of the man upon whom they waited. The king himself would have had few concerns about the fidelity of Neil Campbell, or his capacity to bring the promised fleet to the rendezvous, for by 1306 Sir Neil already had a long history of personal service to Robert and his family; Campbell would come if he was able. Neil’s unyielding loyalty to the Bruce king and his ability to raise a galley force in 1306 reflected the political and personal alliances and territorial interests which the Campbell kindred had built in Argyll, Cowal and other territories fringing the Firth of Clyde over the closing decades of the thirteenth century.

It is customary, but slightly misleading, to point to the relationship between Sir Neil and Robert I as the decisive factor in the development of Campbell power in late medieval Scotland. Bruce’s eventual triumph, it is argued, handed regional supremacy in Argyll to the King’s ally, Sir Neil, and his descendants. From that point Campbell lordship was characterised by its close co-operation with the Scottish crown and entered an apparently irresistible and relentless phase of expansion.4 The reality was less neat. The family would certainly prosper as a result of its association with the hero-King, but the advance was fitful and interrupted by dramatic setbacks and shifts of political and territorial focus. Moreover, the story is not to be told in the simple passing of a burgeoning Campbell lordship from father to son. Early in the fourteenth century the predominance of the Campbell line represented by Sir Neil and his descendants was by no means natural or assured. The effective leadership of the wider kindred would pass at various points to a number of men from other branches of the family in the tumult of civil and national war in the years after 1306.

Although Neil Campbell is the first member of the family for whom the outlines of a career can be discerned, recent historians have properly laid stress on the fact that Clan Campbell was a well-established kindred with wide-ranging territorial interests long before the end of the thirteenth century.5 The earliest surviving genealogy relating to the family is contained in a collection dating from c.1400 (MS. 1467) that records the descent of a number of the leading Gaelic aristocratic kindreds in the Hebrides, Argyll and the Scottish west coast.6 In his ground-breaking study of the origins of the family, David Sellar collated the Campbell genealogy found in MS.1467 with genealogies preserved in the sixteenth-century Kilbride MS (now lost) and the seventeenth-century collection of the Irish genealogist Duald MacFirbis.7 Despite some minor inconsistencies, the various genealogical tracts presented a broadly consistent picture of the descent of late medieval Campbell lords. Taking the genealogies studied by Sellar in conjunction with contemporary references to individual Campbell lords in other sources, Neil emerges as the representative of an aristocratic lineage that could trace its descent with reasonable certainty back into the twelfth century, (see Table 1). Neil himself was the son of the well-attested Colin (d.c.1296), probably the Cailean Mór from whom subsequent Campbell chiefs were said to derive their distinctive Gaelic style MacCailein Mór.8 Colin’s own father, Gillespic, appeared in royal record in 1262–3 and 1266. For the generations beyond Gillespic we rely largely on the sometimes conflicting genealogies examined by Sellar. These agree that Gillespic’s father was named Dugald, while MacFirbis’ genealogy alone asserts that this man was the first of the line to bear the name Campbell, probably derived from the Gaelic byname Caimbeul, indicating a wry or twisted mouth.9 Above Dugald the genealogies show some divergence but, importantly, all claim that Dugald’s father or grandfather was named Duncan. In a charter issued by David II in 1369 the then Campbell chief had confirmed to him the lands and rights held by his progenitor, one Duncan ‘Macdowne’ (MacDuibne), in the lordship of Loch Awe and elsewhere in Argyll.10 The 1369 charter makes it clear that in the fourteenth century Duncan MacDuibne was regarded as a prominent ancestor from whom the Campbell lineage claimed to derive rights to land and lordship in Loch Awe. The terms of the royal grant suggest that elements of the Campbell genealogy recorded c.1400 were in place by 1369 and, as Sellar has argued, also support the assertion made in later family histories that the Campbells emerged from an earlier kindred that originally bore the name MacDuibne or O’Duibne.11 Beyond the Duibne, from whom the family name MacDuibne or O’Duibne was said to derive, the Campbell genealogies record a series of rather bizarre names that seem to have a strong ‘British’ resonance. Sellar goes on to argue that this belief in ‘British’ descent represented the earliest strand of Campbell thinking as to the origins of their own family. Thus the Campbell genealogy in MS.1467 extended back from the chief alive in 1400, Colin, to the legendary British king Arthur, son of Uther Pendragon ‘the undisputed king of the world?.12 The Arthurian/British descent claimed for Clan Campbell remained a constant feature of Gaelic poems and genealogies produced for the family in the medieval and early modern periods.13 This fact, combined with the early concentration of family members in and around the Firth of Clyde, might suggest that the kindred’s origins genuinely lay in a district where the influence and prestige of the old British kingdom of Strathclyde still lingered, and Sellar has argued plausibly that the earldom of Lennox was a likely area for the genesis of the family.14

The picture of Clan Campbell at the end of the thirteenth century as a family with rights in Loch Awe that could be traced back to a Duncan MacDuibne and whose general pre-eminence on the borders of Argyll/Lennox reflected its descent from Old British stock is a compelling and persuasive one. However, some interesting problems remain. One is the fact that it is very difficult to identify the ‘core’ Campbell estates in this period with any precision. Despite the family’s reputedly ancient association with Loch Awe the bulk of the surviving evidence, as Sellar notes, seems to point to the Lennox and the Firth of Clyde as the area in which thirteenth-century Campbell lords exerted most influence. By the 1290s there were a number of prominent Campbells holding land or office in this region.15 A potentially useful snapshot of landholding in Argyll and other west-coast lordships was provided in February 1293, when King John Balliol’s first parliament ratified plans for the creation of three new west-coast sheriffdoms based on Ross, Lorn and Kintyre and listed the estates of individual landowners that were to be incorporated within the prospective new jurisdictions.16 A Colin Campbell, almost certainly the father of Bruce’s companion Sir Neil, was noted as holding lands that were to be included in the new sheriffdom of Lorn. At first sight this would seem to refer to the Campbells’ ‘ancestral’ holdings in Loch Awe, but the sequence in which the landowners were named is curious and seems to suggest that wherever Colin’s estates lay, they were not in Loch Awe.17 Certainly, Colin’s name did not appear where it might be expected alongside others who demonstrably held land in mid-Argyll and Loch Awe. The classification of Loch Awe landowners seems to have retained the north-to-south organisation of the wider listing and to have named the lords of the principal secular lordships running down the loch. In many cases these secular lordships corresponded to the local parish boundaries. Thus the lands of John of Glenorchy (Glenorchy), were followed by those of Gilbert (MacNaughton) (Upper Loch Awe; the parishes of Inishail and Kilmorich),18 the lands of Malcolm Maclver (Middle Loch Awe: Kilchrenan parish?), the lands of Dugald of Craignish (Craignish), the lands of John MacGilchrist (Ardscotnish; Kilmartin parish?),19 the lands of Master Ralph of Dundee (Glassary) and the lands of Gillespic MacLachlan (Strathlachlan). The list continued with the estates of the earl of Menteith in Knapdale and the holdings of Angus son of Donald of the Isles (presumably in Islay?) and rather strangely ended with those of Colin Campbell. It is impossible to identify any lordship held by Colin that could have lain to the south of the lands of Angus Mór MacDonald.20 If the location of Colin’s estates remains rather mysterious, we can at least suggest that the Campbells were not regarded by the crown? or anybody else, as enjoying any special or superior status in Loch Awe in 1293. The problematic position of the lordship of Loch Awe will be returned to later. Other Campbell lords were named in the list of men whose lands were to be incorporated in the new sheriffdom of Kintyre to be administered by James the Steward. Thomas Campbell was clearly a close kinsman of Colin, while the individual identified as Duncan Dubh has been claimed as an ancestor of the MacArthur Campbells of Strachur.21 The descendants of these men seem to have held estates in northern Cowal; if this reflected earlier patterns of possession, then the 1293 legislation might suggest the existence of a number of Campbell lineages clustered in the area between the heads of Loch Fyne and Loch Long.22 Accounts of the family’s military exploits in 1306 and 1334 also indicate the early influence of the Campbells in the sea lochs that opened into the Firth of Clyde. In 1306, as we have seen, Robert I expected a Campbell galley force to come to his rescue on the shores of Loch Long, while in 1334 Robert’s grandson, Robert the Steward, also relied on Campbell galleys to undertake assaults on English forces in Dunoon and Bute.23

However, thirteenth-century references to individual Campbell lords were not confined to the Clyde, and at least some suggest a link to another area rich in Arthurian/British associations to the east of Stirling. On the two occasions when he appeared in record, Sir Neil’s putative grandfather, Gillespic, was associated with this region. At some point in 1262–3 Gillespic received a royal gift of the lands of ‘mestreth and sawlchop’, taken to be Menstrie and Sauchie in Stirlingshire, while three years later, on 4 March 1266, he witnessed a charter issued at Stirling by Alexander III in favour of the abbey of Lindores.24 Menstrie remained in the hands of Gillespic’s descendants into the sixteenth century and it is tempting to suggest that the occupation of the estate in 1263 was, or swiftly became, heritable.25 The appearance of Gillespic’s grandson, Neil, as a witness to a grant of 1282 in favour of Cambuskenneth abbey reinforces the impression that in the second half of the thirteenth century the family had a number of ties to the aristocratic society of Stirling and Clackmannan.26 The Campbells’ claim to Arthurian/British ancestry would not have been out of place in this geographical context, for Stirling was commonly regarded in late medieval Scotland as marking the boundary between the ancient British and Scottish kingdoms, and as a stronghold with explicit connections to King Arthur. In 1365 David II boasted to the visiting chronicler Jean Froissart that the royal castle at Stirling was the site of King Arthur’s Snowdon. In the 1420s a Burgundian knight received a similar ‘Scottish heritage tour’, in which Arthur’s role as the builder of Stirling Castle was highlighted. In the fifteenth century the royal herald associated with Stirling castle was named ‘Snawdoun’, while the castle’s Arthurian past and alternative name of ‘Snawdonwest’ was advertised by an unknown Scot travelling in England during the 1470s.27 On the whole, Stirling’s Arthurian/British associations seem to reflect a rather antiquarian late medieval literary and cultural enthusiasm for the British past that affected much of the aristocracy of western Europe. It would be worthwhile to look at Campbell claims to British descent in the same context. While it is certainly possible that the Campbells and other Scottish families that asserted Arthurian ancestry were genuinely of Old British stock, the cult of Arthur and ‘British’ kingship had also enjoyed a much more recent revival in the wake of the appearance of Geoffrey of Monmouth’s Historia Regnum Britanniae (History of the Kings of Britain) in or around 1136. Monmouth’s work spawned a wide interest in Arthur as well as other British kings of dubious authenticity.28 As a result, it is well nigh impossible to disentangle any genuine and early ‘British’ legacy from a relatively late accommodation with the Arthurian pseudo-history invented by Geoffrey.

One interesting aspect of the Campbell avowal of Arthurian descent, however it arose, is that in a thirteenth-century context it would seem to be another factor which aligned Clan Campbell with the interests of the Stewart family, the rising regional power in the Firth of Clyde. The Campbells’ supposed ‘British’ origins certainly marked the family off from most of their neighbours in Cowal, Knapdale and mid-Argyll. The Lamonts, MacSweens, MacGilchrists and MacLachlans, for example, regarded themselves as related branches of a wider kindred descended from a common ancestor, and ultimately traced their origins back to an eleventh-century Irish prince.29 However, as twelfth-century Breton incomers to the British Isles, the Stewarts could genuinely claim ‘British’ ancestry.30 The assertion of a descent from illustrious figures in the British past was used by a number of noble families across the British Isles in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries to provide a historical precedent for the aggressive creation of new aristocratic supremacies in areas once reputedly held by the British kings and for the expulsion or subjugation of established landowners. It may not be coincidence that, to judge by the use of Arthur as a Christian name, the cult of Geoffrey of Monmouth’s all-conquering king seems to have flourished in and around areas of Stewart lordship in the Firth of Clyde in the thirteenth century.31 The period was also notable for the rapid expansion of Stewart interests from their core lordship of Renfrew. The advance of Stewart lordship across the Firth of Clyde can be tentatively traced through resignations and grants made by local landowners in favour of the abbey of Paisley, a Stewart foundation and the long-established ecclesiastical focus for the family. By c.1200 the Stewarts had become the dominant lords in Bute, and during the 1230s the rocky Cowal peninsula, lying to the north of the island, also fell under their sway.32 Around the middle of the century Arran and Knapdale were added to the growing Stewart empire and eventually seem to have been absorbed into the personal lordship of Walter Stewart, the younger brother of Alexander, the fourth High Steward.33 Prominent families in the areas affected were displaced or found their independent status challenged as the Stewarts steadily acquired lands and jurisdiction. The most notable casualties were the MacSweens, the possessors of extensive estates in Knapdale and Kintyre, including the great fortresses at Skipness and Castle Sween. From 1261 onwards, there were distinct indications of a concerted Stewart campaign to force MacSween recognition of their lordship in the region.34 At least some members of the MacSween kindred were unwilling to subject themselves to Stewart control, and played a prominent part in supporting the expedition of the Norwegian king Haakon IV in 1263.35 The ultimate failure of the expedition left the family vulnerable to retaliation and expulsion from their estates. By the close of the thirteenth century the MacSweens had been forced into exile in Ireland, where they carved out a lordship around Fanad, while the banners of Walter Stewart flew above Skipness and Castle Sween.36

Early in the 1260s Walter also laid claim to the earldom of Menteith by right of his wife, Mary of Menteith. The successful prosecution of this claim meant that Walter Stewart’s descendants adopted Menteith as a surname. The earldom had had a convoluted recent history. In 1213 the then earl, Maurice, had resigned Menteith in favour of his younger brother, also Maurice. The elder Maurice, however, was to retain possession of certain lands for his own lifetime, while others were to be used to provide a tocher, or marriage portion, for his daughters. The lands given to Maurice the elder’s daughters ‘and their heirs to come’, to be held from Maurice the younger and his heirs, were Savelin (Saline?), ‘Mestryn’, ‘Keneltone’ and ‘Stradlochlin’.37 The ‘Mestryn’ mentioned here as an estate to be held by one of Maurice’s daughters and her heirs is usually equated with Menstrie, i.e. the lordship that, as ‘Mestreth’, was later assigned to Gillespic Campbell in 1262–3.38 The possibility that the Campbells were in some way involved in the division of the Menteith inheritance is intriguing, especially given the wider struggle over the earldom in the mid-thirteenth century. On the death of the younger Maurice, shortly before January 1234, Walter Comyn, the husband of Maurice’s daughter Isabella, had assumed the title of earl.39 Following Walter Comyn’s own death in 1258 Countess Isabella swiftly remarried, this time to an English knight named John Russell. The liaison provoked opposition, and accusations that the countess had poisoned her first husband. At this point Countess Isabella and Russell were forced to flee the kingdom and Walter Stewart advanced his claim to the vacant earldom as the husband of Mary of Menteith. It was long assumed that this Mary was a younger sister of Isabella, but in 1975 Archie Duncan put forward the suggestion that Mary was, in fact, a daughter of the elder Maurice and thus Isabella’s cousin rather than her sister.40 Walter Stewart was styling himself earl of Menteith by 17 April 1261, when he witnessed a grant to the abbey of Paisley.41 The displaced Countess Isabella and her husband John Russell continued the struggle, having the agreement of 1213 inspected by Henry III of England in September 1261 and appealing for papal intervention. The dispute would be carried on by Countess Isabella’s daughter, also Isabella, and her husbands; it eventually rumbled on into the fourteenth century. If Walter Stewart’s claim to Menteith depended, as Duncan suggests, on the revival of the rights of the descendants of the elder Maurice of 1213, it is tempting to speculate on the position of Gillespic Campbell in Menstrie in 1262–3. It is, of course, perfectly possible that Menstrie had fallen to the crown through forfeiture or sale after 1213 so that the gift of 1262–3 need not imply that the Campbell lord had any hereditary claim to the estate. Certainly, later Campbell genealogies give not the slightest hint that the Campbell lords most likely to be active around 1213 concluded a marriage to an heiress from a comital family.42 Nevertheless, it is worth noting that an interest in the Menteith inheritance would square remarkably well with the geographical spread of Campbell estates, from Stirlingshire to Cowal, by the end of the thirteenth century.43 Moreover, if the MacFirbis genealogy is correct in identifying Gillespic’s father, Dugald, as the first individual to actually bear the name Campbell, this would imply that the various ‘Campbell’ lords noted at the end of the thirteenth century were all grandsons or great-grandsons of this man and that he had held sufficient land or influence to provide for several cadet families.44 The emergence of a widely ramified family sharing a name that only came to be used in the first half of the thirteenth century suggests either that Dugald managed to lay exclusive claim to a substantial part of the resources held by his father as a member of the MacDuibne kindred, or that he himself was responsible for a rapid accumulation of territory. The Campbells’ ‘historical horizon’ as ‘Campbells’ and, perhaps, as holders of estates stretching from Argyll to Stirlingshire does, therefore, seem to lie in the first half of the thirteenth century.

There were clearly a number of circumstances, besides an interest in the Menteith inheritance, that might explain the expansion of Campbell or proto-Campbell MacDuibne interests in the Firth of Clyde and elsewhere in Argyll in the thirteenth century. For much of the period the issue of ultimate sovereignty in Argyll and the Isles was a matter of open, and occasionally violent, dispute between the Scottish and Norwegian crowns. The flashpoints in this conflict, the military expeditions led by Alexander II against Argyll in the 1220s and 1249, and the Norwegian crown’s bellicose responses in 1230 and 1263, are well-known and much analysed.45 In such a situation a rapid turnover in land ownership and occupation might be anticipated. The punitive expeditions led or promoted by Alexander II and Alexander III into the west in the 1220s, 1240s and 1260s were later said to have caused major re-settlements of land and office.46 Although the long-term effect of these royal raids may be exaggerated, there is little doubt that aristocratic lordships and ecclesiastical institutions firmly tied to the interests of the Scottish crown increased their influence and authority inside Argyll as the century progressed. Although we can say nothing in detail about the conduct and political alliances of Campbell lords during this period, by the end of the thirteenth century the family were clearly reconciled to a role in the service of Stewart overlords and this probably reflected a reasonably long-standing association.

By the 1290s Gillespic Campbell’s son, Colin, was unequivocally part of the affinity of James the Steward, the son of Alexander and the nephew of Walter, earl of Menteith, and was active in a number of lordships bordering the Firth of Clyde. In 1293, for example, the Steward and his brother John stood as pledges for Colin Campbell in a transaction involving lands in the Steward’s lordship of Kyle.47 In January 1295, Sir Colin witnessed a charter by James in favour of Paisley Abbey at a major centre of Stewart lordship, the Blackhall of Paisley. In the following year Colin attested the arrangements for James’ marriage to Giles or Egidia de Burgh, sister of Richard de Burgh, earl of Ulster.48 Colin also witnessed an undated charter by Malcolm, earl of Lennox, in favour of Sir John of Luss in the company of the Steward and a number of his retainers.49 At around the same time he received a grant of lands in the lordship of Cowal from John Lamont.50

However, the Steward was not the only great figure in the south-west of Scotland with whom Colin Campbell was associated. David Sellar has suggested that Colin’s mother was Effrica of Carrick, the niece of Neil, earl of Carrick.51 Such a match would have given the Campbells an early link with the Bruce family, for Earl Neil’s daughter and heiress, Marjorie, married Robert Bruce and carried to him the title earl of Carrick. The eldest son of this marriage, also Robert, was the future king.52 Colin Campbell’s position as a kinsman of the Bruce earls of Carrick might explain his nomination by the Bruce family to take part in the arbitration of the contesting claims of Robert Bruce and John Balliol to the Scottish throne in June 1291.53 In November 1292, at Berwick, a Master Neil Campbell, usually identified as Colin’s brother, was one of the Bruce auditors required to acknowledge the decision of the court in favour of John Balliol.54 In the following year, Master Neil was openly in the service of Robert, earl of Carrick, voyaging to Bergen in Norway to deliver clothes and furniture to the earl’s sister, Isabella, queen of Norway.55

The failure of the Bruce claim to the throne in 1292 was undoubtedly a blow to the family and its supporters in the west. The newly established Balliol regime might well have anticipated some measure of resistance to its authority from those families and areas most closely associated with championing the Bruce claim to the kingship. Bruce attempts to ensure that the representative of their right should not render homage to the new king hardly suggested that they were reconciled to the decision. The Bruce interest lay like a shadow behind Balliol’s kingship, a potential focus for internal political dissent and external manipulation. King John, however, had his own powerful domestic allies, whose influence extended into the west and more than matched that of the earl of Carrick and his affinity. King John’s brother-in-law was John Comyn, lord of Badenoch and Lochaber. Comyn’s own brother-in-law was Alexander MacDougall, lord of Argyll, one of the most prestigious and powerful west-coast lords. The Balliol-Comyn-MacDougall axis was the cornerstone of Balliol rule.

As we have seen, one of the first acts of the Balliol government, in February 1293, was to put forward plans for the creation of new sheriffdoms in the west. The arrangement seems like a sensible extension of the authority of the Scottish crown into the west, an attempt to regulate landholding and justice in an area that had been formally subject to the Scottish crown since the treaty of Perth of 1266, One of the proposed sheriffdoms was that of Lorn, to be administered by Alexander of Argyll.56 At some point shortly after the creation of the Lorn jurisdiction, Alexander was given powers to receive into the King’s peace men within the new sheriffdom who were willing to take their lands at farm and who offered sufficient ‘securities’ that they would render the appropriate services. It seems likely that similar powers were granted to the other new sheriffs, the earl of Ross for Skye and James the Steward for Kintyre.57 Although the arrangements have been seen as desirable in terms of the extension and consolidation of royal authority, the effect on the ground was to hand extensive rights to three powerful magnates who could not always be guaranteed to distinguish between royal needs and those of their own affinities. What is certain is that in the early 1290s the earls of Ross, bolstered by their wide-ranging new rights, were waging what they later described as an open war against the recalcitrant MacRuairies of Garmoran.58 Alexander MacDougall’s exercise of the Lorn sheriffship may also have produced a cluster of dissatisfied local opponents who found the regional agent of the Balliol regime a dangerous and discomfiting foe. One man who may have been rather unhappy with the incorporation of his family’s recently acquired Knapdale lands into the sheriffship of Lorn was the earl of Menteith.

Although the Great Cause had the potential to identify and consolidate two opposed political ‘blocs’ inside the Scottish polity, given time and the sensible use of patronage, Balliol would surely have consolidated his position and engineered support even from those who had been identified with the Bruce claim. The demands of Edward I ensured that Balliol was denied the opportunity to secure his kingship. When war began in March 1296 disaster was heaped on disaster for King John. Edward I’s brutal sack of Berwick at the end of March 1296 was followed by the wholesale defeat of the Scottish host at Dunbar on 27 April. In the aftermath of Dunbar many of the Scots nobility submitted to the English King. By 2 July King John himself had been forced to surrender his kingdom to Edward I. The hapless John was ceremonially humiliated and taken as a prisoner from his own realm.59

In order to consolidate his hold on Scotland, Edward I toured the kingdom in July and August, collecting oaths of loyalty from those who held significant estates within the realm.60 Amongst the Scottish noblemen wHo submitted to Edward I was Alexander of Argyll, who appeared at Elgin to render his fealty to the English crown. Edward was evidently unimpressed with MacDougall’s submission, particularly as Argyll’s eldest son and heir, John, failed to render an oath of allegiance. On 10 September Edward made arrangements for a concerted offensive to neutralise the threat posed by John of Lorn. The English king did not have to look far to find men willing to take on the MacDougalls in Argyll, and essentially recruited the entire Stewart/Menteith affinity into his service. One of the chief agents of the English crown was to be Alexander, earl of Menteith, who received a commission to occupy Alexander and John MacDougall’s castles and lands.61 The men of James the Steward in Cowal, Bute and Rothesay, and the burghs of Ayr, Renfrew, Dumbarton and Glasgow, as well as the men of Ross and John Comyn’s lordships of Badenoch and Lochaber, were instructed to support Menteith’s move against the lordship of Argyll. Edward also demanded the support of the barons of Argyll and Colin Campbell, described as bailie of Loch Awe and Ardscotnish.62 This was in fact the first occasion on which the Campbells were explicitly identified as exercising any form of authority in Loch Awe. Despite the later association of the Campbells with the area there is no direct evidence to connect the family to the lordship in the thirteenth century and certainly nothing to indicate that they enjoyed extensive rights over other landowners as descendants of the Duncan MacDuibne mentioned in the charter of 1369.63 In fact, the bailiary arrangement suggests that in 1296 the rights of lordship over Loch Awe and Ardscotnish lay with Edward I. Moreover, the existence of a royal bailiary of Loch Awe and Ardscotnish was almost certainly not the invention of Edward I in his quest to undermine MacDougall power in 1296, for King John had also addressed commands to his bailie of Loch Awe and Ardscotnish in 1293.64 It is not inconceivable that these two lordships had come under the direct jurisdiction of the Scottish crown much earlier in the thirteenth century. Alexander II and Alexander III had both issued charters dealing with lands (and particularly the possession of castles) in Loch Awe that implied that the estates and strongholds involved were held directly of the king rather than from an intermediate lord.65 An interesting indication of the way in which Loch Awe and mid-Argyll were opened up to secular and ecclesiastical lordship based further to the east came in the resignations of the parochial churches of Inishail and Kilmorich by MacNaughton lords in favour of Inchaffray Abbey. Both resignations were witnessed by Malise, earl of Strathearn, and Clement, bishop of Dunblane, two of the driving forces behind the mid-thirteenth-century royal campaigns in Argyll.66 The retention of royal rights in Loch Awe and Ardscotnish may have been regarded as essential for the maintenance of the crown’s control over the recently annexed province, with Loch Awe, in particular, providing a land route from eastern Scotland into the heart of Argyll.

In 1296, then, the stage was set for a co-ordinated assault on the position of the MacDougall lords, in which Colin Campbell, the newly created bailie of Loch Awe and Ardscotnish, could be expected to play a leading role in support of the earl of Menteith. This, surely, provides the political context for the traditional tale of the death of Sir Colin in a clash with John of Lorn on the borders of Loch Awe and Lorn, an event that could have occurred at any stage after the commission of 10 September 1296.67 Sir Colin’s death was not the only fatality inflicted by the MacDougall lords of Argyll as they sought to defend themselves against the men assigned to bring them to heel in 1296. Letters usually dated to the summer of 1297 from Alexander of Islay to Edward I indicate that Alexander of Argyll had mounted a spectacular counter-offensive, raiding Clan Donald lands and striking against targets across the Firth of Clyde. In 1299 Alexander of Argyll caught up with Alexander of Islay and killed him ‘together with a countless number of his own people that were slaughtered around him’.68

While others struggled to contain the lords of Argyll, the Clan Campbell seem to have dropped out of the fierce military competition within the province. The transmission of Campbell estates and leadership of the kindred after Sir Colin’s death may have been disputed, and was by no means as straightforward as the traditional genealogies might suggest. In 1301–2, two of Colin’s sons, Donald and Neil, suddenly appear as active and influential personalities in the service of Robert Bruce, earl of Carrick (the future Robert I), outwith Argyll. By that stage the brief Campbell hold on the bailiary of Loch Awe and Ardscotnish had probably already been lost. Alexander of Argyll and his sons had submitted to Edward I in the summer of 1301 and, by 1304 at the latest, the lord of Argyll had been made responsible for the inbringing of royal revenues from Loch Awe and Ardscotnish.69

Although Campbell tradition unequivocally regards Neil as the elder son of Sir Colin, the contemporary evidence, such as it is, might suggest that Donald enjoyed this distinction.70 Moreover, although by the time of his death (c.1316) Sir Neil was the dominant figure in Clan Campbell, there is no indication that he was initially regarded in this light. Indeed, after his first appearance as a witness to the 1282 grant in favour of Cambuskenneth Abbey, Neil Campbell simply disappears from sight for two decades.71 Given these circumstances, speculation that the clerical Master Neil, who was notably active in the service of the Bruce family throughout the 1290s, might be one and the same as Neil, Colin’s son (and thus a cleric who abandoned the religious life in order to pursue a career as a secular lord), is attractive, but unprovable.72

What is clear is that from 1300 Neil Campbell and, to a much lesser extent, his brother Donald built their careers and reputations on their unswerving loyalty and service to Robert the Bruce. Throughout these uncertain years the Campbell brothers were invariably in step with the political dance of the earl of Carrick, and Neil, at least, seems to have been part of Carrick’s personal affinity. Bruce became a joint guardian of the kingdom after the defeat of the Wallace-led host at the battle of Falkirk in 1298, but resigned before May 1300.73 Bruce seems to have become increasingly disenchanted with the determination of his fellow guardians to negotiate the restoration of John Balliol to the Scottish throne. Alarmed by the apparent success of the diplomatic initiatives of the pro-Balliol guardians, Bruce was driven to seek an accommodation with another man bitterly opposed to the restoration of Balliol, namely Edward I. Early in 1302, Robert came into the peace of the English king.74 Amongst the men who followed Bruce into the service of the English crown was Sir Neil Campbell. On 13 February 1302, Neil received a grant from the English king of lands in Cumberland that belonged to the heir of the deceased Hubert de Multon, along with the right to marry Hubert’s widow, Margaret. The grant was one of a cluster of remissions and concessions issued to Carrick’s followers by Edward I in the wake of Earl Robert’s shift of allegiance.75 It also seems likely that it was around this time that Neil and his brother Donald received from Edward the lucrative ward of the two daughters and heiresses of Andrew of Crawford, lord of Loudoun, Draffan and Lochmartnaham.76

For the next four years, the Campbell brothers followed the lead of the earl of Carrick and served the English war effort in Scotland with a fair degree of enthusiasm. Donald was one of the knights retained in the service of Sir John Botetourte, the English justiciar of Galloway, in campaigns in the south-west of Scotland, and eventually acted as sheriff of Wigtown for the English administration in 1304–5.77 In 1304, Neil himself served in the retinue of Richard de Burgh, earl of Ulster, and appeared as part of the great host besieging one of the last bastions of Scottish resistance, Stirling Castle.78 Neil’s connection to the earl of Ulster was not as surprising as it first appears, since in 1302 the earl of Carrick had married de Burgh’s daughter Isabella. Neil’s service to Earl Richard undoubtedly reflected de Burgh’s position as Bruce’s new father-in-law.

When the garrison of Stirling eventually surrendered to Edward I’s forces on 20 July 1305, it seemed that the English king’s triumph in the struggle for control of the Scottish kingdom was complete. Already, in February 1304, the Scottish guardian, John Comyn of Badenoch, had negotiated the surrender of most of the principal leaders of Scottish resistance to Edward’s regime.79 After the fall of Stirling, Edward now had to find a way to govern the annexed northern kingdom as its accepted lord. The process was likely to be complicated not only by the resentment of many Scots at the dissolution of the institutions of Scottish kingship and the infringement of the rights and liberties secured by, and vested in, those institutions, but also by the tensions created as former opponents of the English crown sought the restoration of estates and offices which, in many cases, had been assigned to other men. During 1305, Bruce and his supporters, including Neil and Donald Campbell, became acutely aware of the disadvantages of serving an English monarch intent on securing his hold over the entire Scottish aristocratic community, and not simply concerned with rewarding the earl of Carrick and his adherents.

In March 1305, Carrick attended a Parliament at Westminster as one of the three Scottish commissioners (the others being Robert Wishart, bishop of Glasgow, and Sir John Mowbray) consulted by Edward I on the arrangements to be made for the future governance of Scotland.80 It was agreed that a full panel of Scottish representatives should attend a parliament at Westminster later in the year in order to finalise arrangements for the administration of Scotland.81 Earl Robert’s prominent role in the March negotiations at Westminster and the personal concessions he obtained from Edward I at the same time represented the high point of Bruce’s influence with the English crown.82 By the time the parliament actually met to discuss the future governance of Scotland, in September 1305, the relationship between the earl and Edward I’s government was decidedly less cordial.

The troubles experienced by Sir Neil Campbell during 1305 undoubtedly reflected and aggravated those of his Bruce master. Neil seems to have accompanied Earl Robert to the discussions of March 1305; Campbell was certainly physically present and transacting business in Westminster during Lent of that year.83 The Campbell lord’s problems centred on a long-running dispute over the wardship of the two Crawford heiresses that had been granted to Neil and his brother in 1302. Sir Robert Keith, who claimed to have purchased the wardship of the heiresses from king John Balliol, contested the right to the ward and marriage of the young sisters. Keith had been a leading figure in Scottish resistance to Edward I during the 1290s, before being captured and imprisoned in 1299. Sometime in 1303, Keith obtained his release under terms that expressly allowed him to recover his lands and rights with the support of the English crown.84 By November 1303 Keith had begun legal proceedings to recover possession of the heiresses from Neil Campbell and his brother.85 The Campbells were prohibited from arranging the marriages of the Crawford sisters before the king’s council in Scotland discussed the legal rights of the contesting parties. Regardless of this ban, Neil seems to have married (or arranged a marriage for) the younger sister, Alice, and was thereafter summoned before the king’s council for contempt.86 Eventually, the case was decided in Keith’s favour at a parliament in London, perhaps that of March/April 1305, but more probably the assembly in September of the same year.87 After the judgement, Edward I ordered his Scottish chancellor and chamberlain ‘to allow [Keith] to have these children, and to distrain Sir Dovenald Chambel and Sir Nel Chambel by their lands and bodies’.88

The deterioration of the relationship between the Campbell brothers and Edward I’s administration during 1305 may well have been exacerbated by the grants made by Edward in favour of one of his household knights, Sir John Dovedale, who had been active in the king’s Scottish campaigns.89 At some point in 1305 the king assigned the lands of one Sir Colin Campbell to Dovedale, because Colin had died leaving an underage son and heir.90 Later in the year, and again probably at the Westminster parliament of September 1305, Dovedale successfully petitioned the king for the ward and marriage of Sir Colin’s infant heir.91 The identity of this Sir Colin Campbell is problematic. It would seem unlikely that the Colin who was Donald and Neil’s father could leave an under-age heir in 1305. One possibility is that the Colin who died c.1304–5 was an otherwise unrecorded younger brother of Neil and Donald who had claims on his father’s inheritance because Neil and Donald were considered to be illegitimate.92 If this were the case, then the Dovedale grant would have seen the core Campbell estates and custody of Neil’s infant nephew pass to one of Edward I’s knights. Alternatively, Sir Colin may have been the man captured by the English in 1296 and described then as ‘Nicholas (Colin) Doncandouesone’.93 In any event, Edward I’s grant gave over rights to Campbell property and the wardship of an important Campbell heir to one of the king’s own favoured retainers.

The Dovedale grant and the judgement in favour of Keith against Carrick’s adherents were symptomatic of the changing pattern of the English king’s patronage during 1305. While Carrick’s influence declined, Sir Robert Keith’s star was very much in the ascendant. Keith had been chosen in May as one of the ten Scottish representatives to attend the meeting in September that would settle the arrangements for Edward’s administration of Scotland.94 In the ordinance issued in September, Keith was appointed justiciar between the Forth and the Mounth alongside the Englishman Sir William Inge.95 The high favour in which Keith was held was confirmed on 26 October when he was one of four men (the others being the bishop of St Andrews, the Chamberlain John de Sandale and John de Kingston) to whom custody of the kingdom was assigned until the arrival of the lieutenant nominated in the September Ordinance, the king’s nephew John of Brittany.96 In contrast, the Ordinance of September 1305 was notable for the eclipse of Bruce interests in all of the areas where the earl and his adherents had been active after 1302. Although Earl Robert was given a place on the council assigned to John of Brittany, he secured no judicial or administrative offices, even in the sheriffdoms of Ayr, Lanark or Wigtown, where he or his supporters had acted as sheriffs for the English administration in the recent past. In the month following the drawing up of the ordinance, Bruce lost a long-running dispute with Ingram de Umfraville over lands in his own earldom of Carrick.97

As 1305 drew to a close, the earl of Carrick and Sir Neil Campbell could hardly have viewed the Edwardian settlement of Scotland with any relish. There was also, of course, the issue of the long-cherished Bruce claim to the Scottish throne. Carrick’s determination to prepare the ground for a future vindication of his claim to be king, perhaps alongside a desire to deal with the more short-term damage inflicted on his interests during 1305, prompted Bruce to arrange a meeting with John Comyn, lord of Badenoch, in February 1306.98 The fateful meeting ended in a clash between Bruce and Comyn that left the lord of Badenoch and his uncle dead. The overwhelming testimony of near-contemporary and later chronicle tradition suggests that the two men, who had a long history of violent personal enmity, quarrelled as Robert sought Comyn’s support for any future attempt to make good the Bruce claim to the kingship.99 Given Bruce’s actions in the immediate aftermath of Comyn’s death, this interpretation of the substance of the February meeting is both logical and understandable. Some of the chronicle accounts dealing with the episode add another element to the dispute in the Greyfriars kirk by suggesting that Bruce also aired a number of retrospective grievances. In particular, it was alleged that Comyn had broken a mutual indenture and agreement between the two men by undermining Robert’s reputation with Edward I.100 As Barrow argues, much of this was undoubtedly invented (in the Scottish sources at least) to blacken the reputation of the lord of Badenoch. Yet the notion that Bruce and his men had fallen from Edward’s favour in the months before February 1306 seems to have some substance. Given the relative success of men attached to John Comyn in obtaining offices under the terms of the Ordinance of September 1305, Carrick may also have had some grounds for suspecting that his rival had influenced the English king.101

Sir Neil Campbell and his brother were amongst the first men to actively support Bruce’s cause in the wake of Comyn’s death, being noted in English sources as leaving Edward I’s allegiance in February 1306.102 Sir Neil may have joined Bruce’s entourage during the Earl’s whirlwind campaign against English forces and Comyn allies in the south-west of Scotland in the immediate aftermath of Badenoch’s demise. Campbell almost certainly attended Bruce’s inauguration as king on 25 March 1306, six weeks after John Comyn’s death, in the abbey kirk of Scone.103 Neil was one of the new king’s men involved in the intimidation and seizure of Malise, earl of Strathearn, the earl of Buchan’s brother-in-law, in the immediate aftermath of the ceremony at Scone.104

Sir Neil and Donald Campbell’s instantaneous adherence to the Bruce cause in February 1306 was hardly a surprise. The record evidence from 1301–2 onwards indicates that both men were already part of the earl of Carrick’s political affinity, advantageously entering Edward I’s peace in 1302 in a deal brokered by Earl Robert and falling from grace in 1305 alongside their patron. Moreover, the setbacks experienced by the brothers during 1305 ensured that they had no incentive to support the system and personnel of government established by the Ordinances of the previous September indeed, quite the reverse. When Bruce asked for the support of his allies in his audacious resurrection of Scottish kingship in the early spring of 1306, Neil and Donald clearly had little hesitation in joining their lord. Like most of those who followed Bruce in the early months of 1306, the Campbell brothers were soon to suffer for their decision.
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